
Santa Clara City Council Page 1 
October 12, 2016 

SANTA CLARA CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 12, 2016 

MINUTES 

 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF SANTA CLARA, WASHINGTON COUNTY, 

UTAH, met for a Regular Meeting on Wednesday, October 12, 2016 at 5:00 p.m. in the City 

Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 2603 Santa Clara Drive, Santa Clara, Utah. 

 

Notice of the time, place and agenda of the meeting was provided to the Spectrum and to each 

member of the governing body by emailing a copy of the Notice and Agenda to the Spectrum 

and also, along with any packet information, to the mayor and each council member, at least two 

days before the meeting. 

 

Present:   Mayor Rick Rosenberg 

Council Members: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite, Mary Jo (Tode) Hafen 

City Manager:         Edward Dickie 

Secretary:      Gina Wathen 

 

Others Present: Brock Jacobsen, Assistant City Manager; Jack Taylor, Public Works Director; 

Corey Bundy, Building Official; Dan Nelson, Fire Chief; Kent Frei; Patrick Manning; Kyle 

Hafen; Ann Evans; Cindy Frei; Logan Blake  

 

1. Call to Order: Mayor Rosenberg called the meeting to order at 5:05 p.m. 

 

2. Opening Ceremony: 
 

     -  Pledge of Allegiance:  Jarett Waite 

     -  Opening Comments:  Jarett Waite 

 

     -  Councilman Ken Sizemore was excused from the meeting.  Councilman Herb Basso 

will arrive late. 

 

 3. Communications and Appearances: 

  

  A.  General Citizen Communications: None 

   

4. Working Agenda:  
  

A. Public Hearing(s): None 

 

B. General Business: 

 

1. Request to waive Impact Fees.  (Applicant Kent Frei).  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public 

 Works Director.  

 

- He stated that years ago on 2923 W. Santa Clara Drive, there was a home that burnt 

down.  It is now a vacant lot west of the fruit stand.  Councilman Basso used to own the 



Santa Clara City Council Page 2 
October 12, 2016 

lot but he has sold it.  He said that on July 16, 2015 Councilman Basso came to them and 

asked how many impact fees were available on that lot because there was a home there 

that had 3 apartments built into it.  He stated that as they went back into the records of the 

City they found that there was one culinary water service that fed the house and a 4-inch 

sewer.  On the back of the house, there was a 200-amp service and they had divided that 

200-amp panel into 3 other panels to break up the house so they could have the 3 rentals.  

He said as they went back through the records they found that there was 3 meters on the 

back of the house and that there was only 1 water meter on that unit.  He told the Council 

that they have, in their drop box, the letter they sent to Councilman Basso back in 2014.  

He said Kent Frei came to him and asked if there should be more impact fees.  He’s 

requesting more impact fees.  He thinks that maybe he should have 3.   He said that it is 

Staff’s understanding that the old house at the above address was serviced with one ¾ 

inch water meter, one 200-amp panel and one 4-inch sewer Lateral.  The power was 

previously divided up on the back of the house with three separate power meters from the 

200-amp panel.  He said that each new dwelling will require its own services for power, 

water and sewer.  Each unit will have its own 200-amp power meter, ¾ inch water meter 

and an individual 4-inch sewer lateral for each unit.  He said that Staff can prove the 

home on 2923 Santa Clara Drive had one ¾ inch water meter and three power meters 

serving off of a 200-amp panel by the Santa Clara City billings.  He stated that it was 

Staff’s recommendation that we give the new property owner impact fee credits as stated 

in the letter dated July16, 2015 of $15,888.92.  He said that if three units are built on said 

lot the demand on the utility systems will be two times more than before.  He said that in 

the past, if services are upgraded we have charged them for the increase of panel 

amperage and size of water connections.   

- Jarett Waite asked that in the letter to Mr. Basso was that counting that there were three 

meters there.   

- Jack Taylor said it was counting as one impact fee.   

- Kent Frei said he feels like the City looked at it the wrong way.  He said he is in the 

process of purchasing the lot.  He purchased the rights for the impact fees.  He said he got 

a letter from the previous owners.  He said it was the Moss home and there was the home 

and off to the side was two apartments, one upstairs and one downstairs with outside 

entrances.  These apartments were totally legal apartments that were built with the 

building permits for three units.  He said that when something burns down there is an 

inherent right to rebuild the three units.  He said he feels strongly about that.  He said that 

is why he is there to talk to the City Council.  He feels that right was overlooked.  He 

stated that there might be a couple of things that need to be worked out as far as 

upgrading the transformer service.  The intent is to have each unit on its own water meter.  

He said his other fourplexes are all on ¾ hookup.  He is asking to have the credit for three 

units to rebuild those three units.  He is asking for two things, the credit and the right to 

rebuild the three units on the property. 

- Corey Bundy, Building Official, said he has some information on that according to the 

Ordinance.  He said that Kent Frei is trying to decide whether or not to pursue a zone 

change in the Historical District property in Santa Clara.  It is currently zoned R-1-10.  

He said that Mr. Frei mentioned in a recent TRC Meeting that he is considering asking 

Council for permission to build three units on this ½ acre property.  The R-1-10 zone 

requires a 10,000 square foot home.  The property is around 400 square feet too short to 

allow for two homes.  He said that the Council may consider a variance or allowance for 

two homes on the 19, 602 square feet parcel.  He said that when Patricia Hunt came to 



Santa Clara City Council Page 3 
October 12, 2016 

Council and asked for a variance that Council basically said that she needed to acquire 

more property.  He said that Mr. Frei wants to build three units on the parcel.  The City 

Code Section 1724050 Restoration of Damaged Buildings allows the restoration of 

existing units, which are destroyed by fire, floods or other acts of God, provided the 

building restoration is started within 1 year of the destruction.  In this case approximately 

12 to 15 years or more have lapsed since the three homes were destroyed by fire.  This set 

a difficult precedence for allowing restoration of the damaged or destroyed building when 

the code says 1 year for the time period to replace the destroyed building.  He said that he 

and Bob Nicholson looked at this and Matt Ence followed up and he agrees with the 

reading of the code although it possibly may or may not change the results.  It would 

probably have to comply with the zone regardless.  He said they haven’t seen Mr. Frei’s 

plan for what he wants to do.  All they have seen are the multi-family structures that have 

come through Planning Commission.   

- Kent Frei said that he thinks the code was written after the home was burnt down.  He 

said they are not setting precedence because there is not another building in Santa Clara 

that has burnt down and that has a credit.  He thinks there is an inherent right to put back 

on to the land that is there the three buildings that burnt down.  He said the Moss family 

and speaking for Mr. Basso that they were never given anything in writing that it would 

be anything different.  The Moss family was never given anything by the City.  He said 

the City gave permits for three buildings and he thinks there is an inherent right to rebuild 

those three units. 

- Herb Basso said that when the City did the streetscape, he did request and pay for and 

have the water and sewer lines upgraded and enlarged.  He said there are enough water 

units to supply the units.   

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that Herb Basso didn’t pay any impact fees at that time that he 

just paid for additional size on the lines.   

- Herb Basso said that is right.  The upgrade was enough for an assisted living or an inn.   

- Jack Taylor said that there is a ¾ inch meter, 1-inch line that is run to the property and a 

4-inch sewer lateral.   

- Herb Basso said that he did plea for an additional credit for impact fee and he knows 

there was three water meters.  He said that he feels that if there were three meters the 

owner of the property should get the credit for that.  He doesn’t know the size of the 

meters. 

- Kent Frei said that he understands that there will be a cost to upgrade to today’s 

standards and he is willing to pay those costs to upgrade.  He said there were three units 

there and a person should have the right to rebuild those units that burnt down. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that there are two issues that Mr. Frei asked about.  One of them 

is not on the agenda so the Council can’t discuss the number of units.  He said the 

discussion is only on the impact fee waiver.  He said that if Kent Frei wants to come 

back, because it hasn’t been advertised.   

- Kent Frei said he won’t be coming back if he doesn’t get the credit for the three units 

for impact fees and what is involved in building the three units.  He said he is there to get 

the total impact fees for the three units and then he will come back and ask for the 

variance or whatever he needs to build the three units.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said that is a zoning entitlement and it needs to be done as an 

advertised item.     

- Tode Hafen said that when Kent Frei came to the Heritage Commission he proposed 5 

units with the front one being a business and two other businesses.  Did he take that to 



Santa Clara City Council Page 4 
October 12, 2016 

Zoning and Planning Commission?   

- Kent Frei said he did and it got tabled.  He said right now if he got variance for the three 

units he would build the front three units as it was passed off by the Heritage Committee, 

the business and the other two units.  This would be in response to his Uncle Vic, who 

doesn’t want him to get the zoning changed.  He said he would give him an easement for 

drainage.  He said that if he builds the three units he will come in for a zone change and 

build the other two.  He would do everything upfront.   

- Tode Hafen asked Mr. Frei if the plans that were brought to Heritage Commission 

initially were the plans that he took to Planning Commission. 

- Kent Frei said yes that is what he intends to build. 

- Mayor Rosenberg restated that was tabled by the Planning Commission.  He reminded 

Council that the impact fee is what is being addressed at this meeting. 

- Jack Taylor said that when they redid the streetscape and Santa Clara Drive there was 

only one water meter that served that lot.  If there had been three water services to that 

lot, they would have put them back in.  He said there is one.  He said there is a 200-amp 

panel on the back, divided for three units.  If two more units are built on there, there is 

going to be 600-amp panels, three 200-amp panel on the back of that house plus 2 more 

water meters.   

- Kent Frei said that the previous house was a 3,000 square foot home.  He said the code 

has changed.   

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if there is a record of paying impact fees when they took out 

the building permit.   

- Jack Taylor said there was no impact fees that were paid back at that time. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that when they got the building permit they met the impact fee 

requirement.  He asked if the City would have set the panel. 

- Jack Taylor said the City didn’t own the power company at that time.  The other power 

company is the ones that set the meters. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that when the City bought the system the meters were still there 

and we assumed all of the meters as a City that were in the City. 

- Jack Taylor said that there are records and accounts that show that there were three 

meters on the back of the house. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that we can probably satisfy the impact fee requirement for three 

meters but the size of those meters in current standards is there one impact fee for power 

or is there multiple.   

- Jack Taylor said that most likely in most units that are built today is a 200-amp with one 

meter. 

- Mayor Rosenberg asked that the current impact fee we charge, is there multiple meter 

sizes that we charge, like the water meter? 

- Jack Taylor said that we charge for 200, 400 and 600.  The smallest is 200-amp. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that if there is a meter the owner is given credit for 200-amp.  He 

said that there were three meters when the City took over the system.  Council needs to 

decide if that constitutes paying a fee.  There wasn’t a fee when the home was built.  He 

said everybody is in agreement that there was only one water meter credit.  Council has 

to decide if they are going to base it on the amps that it could have drawn or the number 

of meters. 

- Herb Basso asked when the meters would have been put in approximately and would it 

have been 100-amps.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said it would have been prior to the City taking over the system. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 5 
October 12, 2016 

- Kent Frei said he doesn’t think it is any different than anybody owning an old home.  

The old home is going to be built to different standards than today’s standards.  He said if 

someone owned an old home that burnt down they would hope that they could come back 

and get the impact fees paid for and then if the transformer or line have to be upgraded. . .  

- Mayor Rosenberg said that a person should be able to come back and get in kind what 

they had, equivalent fee.  

- Kent Frei said that does make sense.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said that today the smallest meter is a 200-amp.   

- Kent Frei said that were talking power and water.  He said there are three units he 

would like to get credit for. 

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if he wanted to table this until after he gets his land use 

entitlement discussed. 

- Kent Frei said that he doesn’t want to table.  He said he is tired of tabling.   

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if he was sure. 

- Kent Frei asked if he needed to do that first. 

- Tode Hafen said it would give Council a chance to research this.  She asked when the 

ordinance was written. 

- Kent Frei said that the house and apartment burnt down in about 2000.   

- Tode Hafen said that the Council needs to address whether they would be going against 

an ordinance.  Is it grandfathered in?   

- Mayor Rosenberg told Kent Frei that he probably wants to address his zoning 

entitlement first and then address the impact fees. 

- Kent Frei said he never received that good advice before.  He said he will do that. 

- Herb Basso said that the only thing that Council can address today is the existence of 

three meters.  Can Council address that today?  Whether Kent Frei goes for a zone 

change or not or what type of units is something that has to come back to Planning 

Commission.   

- Kent Frei said that at this time he would like to come back for the entitlement first and 

then with that entitlement that sets the basis for the impact fees.  He requests tabling it 

and getting on the agenda for the next City Council Meeting.   

   

Motion to Table the Request to waive Impact Fees.  

Motion by Tode Hafen, seconded by Herb Basso. 

 

- Herb Basso asked what it is that is being tabled.  He said to add for clarification what is  

  being tabled.  Are we talking about meters, electric, water, sewer? 

- Mayor Rosenberg said they are tabling the request to waive the impact fees.  He said  

  they will talk about the entitlement issue and then come back.  The Council has to decide  

  how many units Mr. Frei is entitled right now to rebuild without a zone change.  That is a 

  different discussion and different research on the Staff level.  That could make this  

  argument pretty simple if that one is solved first.   

  

Voting Aye: Tode Hafen, Jarett Waite, Jerry Amundsen and Herb Basso. 

Voting Nay: None. 

Motion Carried.  
 

- Ed Dickie, City Manager, asked if it was okay to put it on the November 9 City Council 

  Meeting agenda instead of October 26.  Jack Taylor won’t be at the meeting on October  



Santa Clara City Council Page 6 
October 12, 2016 

  26. 

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if that was okay with Kent Frei. 

- Kent Frei responded that was okay.  He asked if he could get on the agenda after that to  

  do the entitlement. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said they can both be done on the same agenda because they are  

  interrelated.  The entitlement will be done first and then the impact fee.   

 

2. Discussion and/or Approval of waiving Banquet Hall Fee for Polynesian Choir Christmas 

Concert.  Herb Basso, Councilman. 

 

 - Herb Basso said he would like to see events downtown that bring people to Santa Clara.  

It also provides community activity.  The Saint George Tabernacle is being renovated and 

the scheduling has been cancelled for almost 2 years.  He said that the Polynesian Choir 

can’t perform at the Saint George Tabernacle so why can’t Santa Clara have their concert 

here.  He said they do a very good job and they fill a hall.  He asked the Choir Director 

and they are looking for a place and he wanted to come before Council to see if Santa 

Clara can have them come to offer a free concert to our community.  It is a Sunday 

request.  They don’t have a budget.  Can we waive the fees.  They would set up and take 

down the chairs.  They are requesting three mikes.  Their concerts are well attended. 

 - Tode Hafen said she thinks it’s a great idea. 

 

Motion to Approve request for a fee waiver for the Banquet Hall Fee for Polynesian Choir 

Christmas Concert. 

Motion by Tode Hafen, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

 

- Herb Basso said that because we are trying to limit or eliminate the cost to the City, if 

Council is agreeable, he will be the volunteer Staff person that opens the building and 

makes sure that everything is cleaned up. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said to work that out with the building Staff. 

- Jarett Waite said that the City has two mikes hooked up to the system.  There are no 

stands.   

 

Voting Aye: Jarett Waite, Jerry Amundsen, Tode Hafen and Herb Basso. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

      3. Request Approval of the Changes to the Construction Standard and Approve Resolution 

2016-15R.  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public Works Director. 

 

- Mayor Rosenberg reminded Council that this is a follow up to the discussion at the 

Work Meeting.  There is a memo in the drop boxes that talks about the specific changes 

that are included in here with the Washington County Flood Control Authority changes 

and the Washington City asphalt mix and changing the thickness of the sidewalks from 4 

to 6 inches.   

 

Motion to Approve the Changes to the Construction Standard and Approve Resolution 2016-15R. 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite and Tode Hafen. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 7 
October 12, 2016 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

4. South Hills Site Visit immediately following the meeting.  (Split Rock developers would 

like to have a discussion with City Council on site regarding the South Hills and if they 

are on the right track with developing their property).  Presented by Ed Dickie, City 

Manager. 

 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that after the other agenda items, this meeting will be 

adjourned and reconvened out on the site.  

 

5.  Reports: 

    

A. Mayor / Council Reports 

 

Jerry Amundsen: 

- He had a meeting with the Regional Flood Control Authority and a five-year 

preliminary plan was approved that had a few Santa Clara City projects on it.  The lower 

Tuachan Wash debris basin, sediment removal in the basin above the Dam, a lot of right-

of-way acquisitions to be able to get to the facilities and maintain them and a grade 

control structure on the Santa Clara River.  There were several hundred thousand dollars 

over the next 5 years proposed for Santa Clara.   

- Mayor Rosenberg said some of that vegetation removal money could be used in Santa 

Clara as well.  This would provide the ability for Dan’s crews to do some vegetation 

removal over the winter.  He said that the biggest projects are the sediment removal and 

the grade control structure downstream of River Front Estates.  They are good projects 

for the City. 

- The Solid Waste Board only meets quarterly so one should be next month. 

 

Tode Hafen: 

- Reported on Senior Games.  She said the sewer smell at Gubler Park is an issue.   

- Herb Basso said that the smell comes when there is not a lot of water running.  He 

suggested getting the water truck to dumb a few hundred gallons of water in there.  Then 

you could put a biomass powder in there. 

- She met with the Joint Management for Snow Canyon State Park and the Legislature 

allocated a million dollars for the road through the canyon for widening and bike trails.  

They are trying to fast track it and it is going out to bid the first of December and they are 

trying to start construction in January and finishing up in February before turtle mating 

season so they don’t have to have extra expenses for turtle fences and a person to watch 

for turtles. 

- She talked about at the last meeting the discussion of having outside help with redoing 

the General Plan.  She said that the person they met with, with Rural Communities has 

sent a proposal of how they can be of assistance and we need to decide if we want to 

consider it and maybe put it on an agenda for a Work Meeting.  Do we need to decide 

right away? 

- Ed Dickie said we don’t have to.  Council can direct us to go forward with an RFP.  He 

said what they would prefer to do if Council wants to move forward with some outside 

help, a third party, Bob Nicholson could help write it up.  He said they have had interest 



Santa Clara City Council Page 8 
October 12, 2016 

from Jeff Winston who helped do the General Plan originally.  He said they could send 

out an RFP if Council wishes to do so.  We could bring the RFP back or just have it 

written up and ready to present because Bob Nicholson is going to be the only Staff 

member at the next meeting.  He could present at that meeting if we wanted to do that 

and Council could vote at that time. 

- Tode Hafen said that she was going to talk to Bob in more detain about what he needed 

to do that.  What she came back with is a definition of what they would be interested in 

providing.  She said they would charge by the hour. 

- Ed Dickie said we need to keep in mind that this hasn’t been budgeted.  We will have to 

open the budget to do this.  We aren’t thinking about a big amount of money, just a little 

bit of help.  Bob can write that up and he can look over it and present it to Council of they 

want to move that way, on October 26. 

- Tode Hafen said that Bob said there is a lot he can do but they would be helpful in terms 

of photos and recommendations.  She would recommend them. 

- Ed Dickie said that we don’t need them but it is a little bit of a third party.  Someone 

else presenting things.  He would suggest doing an RFP so we could get two or three 

people.  

- Mayor Rosenberg asked if the Planning Commission has been asked. 

- Ed Dickie said he hasn’t talked to the Planning Commission.  He said that this group 

approached Tode Hafen. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said let’s ask the Planning Commission how things are going.  Do 

they need somebody to facilitate?  Let’s identify the need and then we’ll fill the need. 

- Ed Dickie asked Corey Bundy to put this on the next Planning Commission Meeting 

agenda.  Ask Planning Commission if they need that. 

- Tode Hafen asked if she could talk to Bob and have him make that presentation.  This 

isn’t a big investment.  

  

Jarett Waite: 

- Met with the Social Media Committee and are looking at social media policies of South 

Jordan, Provo and Orem.  Bradi went through them ahead of time and highlighted what 

was good and how they correlated with other cities.  Brock and Bradi will hammer it out 

and present it to Council probably in the November Work Meeting.   

- He was able to merge the Parks page into the main City page.  He has also claimed 11 

rogue pages.  They will be merged into the main page or deleted.   

- They decided the liaison from City Council would be an advisory role but not active in 

social media.  No one on City Council would be able to post.  They would have to go 

through Bradi or Ed.  There can’t be anything political or advertising a business.  

 

 Herb Basso: 

- He said he would like to see the bike trails extended all the way to Gunlock.  He would 

 like to see official support.  He will talk to Ken Sizemore.   

- He asked Ed Dickie if there is an official request from the EDC to be on the November 

 Work Meeting agenda.   

- Ed Dickie said that there was. 

 

Mayor Rosenberg: 

- He stated that the Mayor’s Association and the COG Meeting were both postponed until 

November.   



Santa Clara City Council Page 9 
October 12, 2016 

 

Ed Dickie: 

- Mentioned that Morley and McConkie that are doing the appraisals for the Truman 

Drive Slide are behind schedule at this time.  They promised they would get it done by 

the end of next week.     

 

6. Executive Session: None.  

 

7. Approval of Claims and Minutes:   

 

- September 28, 2016 City Council Meeting 

- October 5, 2016 City Council Work Meeting 

- Claims through October 12, 2016                                                                                           

 

- Herb Basso said that he noticed a minor technicality on Jack Taylor’s letter on the 

 Impact Fee request.  It said November 12 and it should have been October 12. 

 

Motion to Approve City Council Meeting Minutes from September 28, 2016, City Council Work 

Meeting Minutes from October 5, 2016 and claims through October 12, 2016. 

Motion by Tode Hafen, seconded by Jarett Waite. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, Jarett Waite and Tode Hafen. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

8. Calendar of Events 
 

- October 26, 2016 City Council Meeting 

- November 2, 2016 City Council Work Meeting 

 

9. Adjournment: 

 

Motion to adjourn and reconvene at the South Hills by Jarett Waite. 

Seconded by Jerry Amundsen with all members present voting aye. 

Meeting Adjourned at 5:59 p.m. 

 

10. Reconvene at South Hills: 

   

  In Attendance:  

  Mayor Rosenberg, Tode Hafen, Jerry Amundsen, Herb Basso, Jarett Waite 

  Staff: Ed Dickie, Brock Jacobsen, Jack Taylor, Dan Nelson, Brad Hays 

  Developers: Patrick Manning, Kyle Hafen, Ken Bylene 

  Residents: Cindy Frei, Logan Blake 

 

 -    Discussion between the Developers and Mayor and Council. 

 

11. Adjournment: 

  

 Meeting Adjourned at 7:15 p.m. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 10 
October 12, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

    __________________________   Date Approved: ________________ 

Chris Shelley – City Recorder 

 


